NASA/TM-20205008198



# **Lunar Transient Accelerations**

Jeffrey T. Somers, KBR Teresa Reiber, KBR James Pattarini, NASA Nathaniel Newby, KBR Preston Greenhalgh, KBR

National Aeronautics and Space Administration

Johnson Space Center Houston, Texas 77058

December 2020

#### NASA STI Program Office ... in Profile

Since its founding, NASA has been dedicated to the advancement of aeronautics and space science. The NASA scientific and technical information (STI) program plays a key part in helping NASA maintain this important role.

The NASA STI program operates under the auspices of the Agency Chief Information Officer. It collects, organizes, provides for archiving, and disseminates NASA's STI. The NASA STI program provides access to the NTRS Registered and its public interface, the NASA Technical Report Server, thus providing one of the largest collections of aeronautical and space science STI in the world. Results are published in both non-NASA channels and by NASA in the NASA STI Report Series, which includes the following report types:

- TECHNICAL PUBLICATION. Reports of completed research or a major significant phase of research that present the results of NASA Programs and include extensive data or theoretical analysis. Includes compilations of significant scientific and technical data and information deemed to be of continuing reference value. NASA counter-part of peerreviewed formal professional papers but has less stringent limitations on manuscript length and extent of graphic presentations.
- TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM. Scientific and technical findings that are preliminary or of specialized interest, e.g., quick release reports, working papers, and bibliographies that contain minimal annotation. Does not contain extensive analysis.
  - CONTRACTOR REPORT. Scientific and technical findings by NASA-sponsored contractors and grantees.

- CONFERENCE PUBLICATION. Collected papers from scientific and technical conferences, symposia, seminars, or other meetings sponsored or co-sponsored by NASA.
- SPECIAL PUBLICATION. Scientific, technical, or historical information from NASA programs, projects, and missions, often concerned with subjects having substantial public interest.
- TECHNICAL TRANSLATION. English-language translations of foreign scientific and technical material pertinent to NASA's mission.

Specialized services also include organizing and publishing research results, distributing specialized research announcements and feeds, providing information desk and personal search support, and enabling data exchange services.

For more information about the NASA STI program, see the following:

- Access the NASA STI program home page at *http://www.sti.nasa.gov*
- E-mail your question to <u>help@sti.nasa.gov</u>
- Phone the NASA STI Information Desk at 757-864-9658
- Write to: NASA STI Information Desk Mail Stop 148 NASA Langley Research Center Hampton, VA 23681-2199

NASA/TM-20205008198



# **Lunar Transient Accelerations**

Jeffrey T. Somers, KBR Teresa Reiber, KBR James Pattarini, NASA Nathaniel Newby, KBR Preston Greenhalgh, KBR

National Aeronautics and Space Administration

Johnson Space Center Houston, Texas 77058

December 2020

Available from:

NASA STI Program Mail Stop 148 NASA Langley Research Center Hampton, VA 23681-2199 National Technical Information Service 5285 Port Royal Road Springfield, VA 22161

This report is also available in electronic form at <a href="http://www.sti.nasa.gov/">http://ntrs.nasa.gov/</a> and <a href="http://http://ntrs.nasa.gov/">http://ntrs.nasa.gov/</a>

### CONTENTS

1.0	INTRODUCTION
2.0	AVAILABLE DATA
2.1	Apollo Data2
2.2	Other Relevant Data5
3.0	CONSIDERATIONS FOR 2024 LUNAR MISSION7
4.0	ACCELERATION LIMITS RECOMMENDATION
5.0	APPLICATION
6.0	DESIGN REQUIREMENTS
6.1	Suit13
6.2	Restraints13
6.3	Mass Offloading14
7.0	LIMITATIONS
7.1	Small Dataset14
7.2	Brinkley Dynamic Response Criterion Model Parameters14
7.3	Deconditioning15
Ackno	wledgments16
Refere	nces

(This page intentionally left blank)

## **1.0 INTRODUCTION**

Recently, the United States announced a plan to return astronauts to the moon by 2024 [8]. Lunar landing (and subsequent Mars landing) architecture was not considered when the current NASA standards and vehicle design requirements for crew injury risk were developed. Therefore, a gap exists in protecting the crew in planetary landing scenarios.

One of the interesting aspects of this design reference mission (DRM) is the consideration of having the crew stand during dynamic phases of flight. Although this approach was contemplated for the Apollo Lunar Module, current NASA standards do not address design solutions that allow the crew to stand.

Currently, NASA uses several tools and associated limits to mitigate crew injury because of dynamic loads. Some of these tools are the Brinkley Dynamic Response Criterion (BDRC) model and Hybrid III Anthropomorphic Test Devices (ATDs) [10]; and these have several limitations for assessing spaceflight loading environments, as well as specific underlying assumptions that may not be applicable in planetary landing vehicles.

The BDRC is a simple lumped mass parameter model developed by the U.S. military, and has been used primarily to evaluate injury risk associated with aircraft ejection systems. The model evaluates seat accelerations in each axis to determine injury risk. Because the model treats the human-seat-restraint system as a single system, it is contingent on a restraint system and seat with similar characteristics of the original test data underlying the model. In particular, the model requires a rigid seat with a minimum natural frequency of 15 Hz, minimal seatpan padding, side supports, and multipoint harness. The BDRC model uses undamped natural frequency and damping coefficients based on these requirements and any deviations may render the model injury predictions void. In lunar landing, one expects that a minimal or even no seat with minimal restraints will be employed. In this case, the original model parameters are likely to not be applicable.

For capsule-based spacecraft returning crew to Earth, the Hybrid III ATD in various sizes also is used to supplement the BDRC. This analytical tool was added to address limitations in the BDRC related to spacecraft landings while wearing a pressure garment and helmet. Although the Hybrid III ATD has additional measurement capability; head, neck, and lumbar spine responses were the only metrics included because of the limitations imposed by the model.

Lunar landing acceleration limits must assume the crew is standing during landing, an orientation for which we have limited data. Although the Apollo missions did employ a standing orientation for the crew, much of the data is lost. Therefore data from other sources have been examined to inform lunar landing acceleration limits.

## 2.0 AVAILABLE DATA

## 2.1 Apollo Data

The Apollo Lunar Module was used successfully in 6 lunar landings. The design was a significant departure from previous spaceflight designs, as it employed a standing orientation for the crew. This decision was made to minimize mass by eliminating the bulky seats and the need for additional windows. The system consisted of hand holds, arm rests with integrated energy attenuators, foot holds, and a restraint pulley system to provide a constant force into the floor, seen in Figures 1 and 2 [5]. This system was used to successfully land 12 men on the moon.



Figure 1. Interior configuration of the Apollo Lunar Module piloting positions.



Figure 2. Apollo Lunar Module restraint configuration [4].

During dynamic phases of flight, the crew donned the Apollo A7L suit (Figure 3) configured for intravehicular activity (IVA). The total mass of the A7L suit in the landing configuration was 29.3 kg.

Specific impact acceleration data from each lunar landing mission is not available. accelerations for each landing were estimated using touchdown conditions from each Apollo landing [11], along with assumptions and simplifications about the landing dynamics. Duration of the impact was determined using guidance, navigation, and control (GN&C) time history (Figure 4). In the case shown, the overall duration of the impact event is 600 ms. A half-sine pulse was used as an approximation of the



Figure 3. Apollo A7L IVA configuration.

shape of the acceleration event, giving a rise time (time to peak) of 300 ms. To determine the peak acceleration, velocity at footpad contact was used as the total change in vertical velocity  $(\Delta V)$  (Table 1). The vertical velocity at footpad contact was given in each mission landing. Because the final velocity is 0 (stationary on the Lunar surface), an assumption of constant change in velocity was used, which may underestimate the peak



Figure 4. Example landing GN&C time history [11].

acceleration because if the  $\Delta V$  were to occur over a subset of the overall time extracted, the peak accelerations would be higher. This assumption is reasonable based on the shape of the GN&C tracings (Figure 5).

Mission	Horizontal Velocity (m/s)*	Vertical Velocity (m/s)*	Landing Slope (rad)
Apollo 11	0.67	0.55	0.079
Apollo 12	0.52	1.00	0.084
Apollo 14	0.73	0.94	0.124
Apollo 15	0.40	2.07	0.192
Apollo 16	~0	1.71	0.044
Apollo 17	~0	0.91	0.044

<b>Lubic Li Bunder</b> ( <b>e</b> lotic) ut i ootpud Contuet
--

\*at moment of first footpad contact



Figure 5. Change in velocity and estimated acceleration for each lunar landing.

In addition, ground testing of the landing system was also available [1]. The test program completed 21 tests of a prototype landing gear system in simulated lunar gravity. These test data points are included along with the estimated Apollo landing data (Figure 6).



Figure 6. Estimated peak landing impact accelerations for each Apollo lunar landing.

## 2.2 Other Relevant Data

Ground-based and flight data also were reviewed to inform a recommendation for a new transient acceleration limit.

Figure 7 shows the treadmill foot strike data from crewmembers on the International Space Station (ISS) [3]. These data have the benefit of providing direct evidence of a tolerable acceleration to a deconditioned crew repeatedly over a long-duration mission. The rise time of each foot strike is approximately 50 ms. Peak foot strike forces ranged from 1220-1530 N. In terms of acceleration, percentage body mass as a surrogate for acceleration was used as a simplification (140% to 180% of crew body weight).

Data from a voluntary jumping task conducted on crewmembers after ISS long-duration spaceflight also were reviewed (Figure 8).



Figure 8. Voluntary jump task.



Figure 7. Foot strike data from ISS crewmembers [3].

These data show crew experience up to 3 times their normal body weight during the jumping task, with an average rise time of 150 ms. In both cases of treadmill running and voluntary jumping, the crewmember is actively reacting to the anticipated impact force. In comparison, passive acceleration transmitted through the feet is likely to transmit higher forces to the torso and spine.

Kuppa et al. [6] and Pintar et al. [9] conducted terrestrial research on lower extremity injury. Kuppa et al. reported injuries to the calcaneus, talus, ankle, and mid-foot based on conditions found in real-world automotive impacts. Pintar et al., reported calcaneus, talous, and distal tibia injuries with and without combat boots. To be conservative, results for the unbooted condition were used.



Data points from all the different sources were compiled together as shown in Figure 9.

Figure 9. Compilation of available impact data in a standing posture.

## 3.0 CONSIDERATIONS FOR 2024 LUNAR MISSION

Currently, the DRM for the 2024 Lunar Return includes some key design elements that deviate from the Apollo mission design (Figure 10). These elements include longer mission durations before lunar landing (approximately 10-11 days from Earth launch to lunar landing versus 4.5 days for Apollo), longer stays on the lunar surface (minimum of 1 week, and may increase in 1-week increments, compared to a maximum of 3 days in the Apollo program). The new architecture includes rendezvous with the Gateway platform, which will orbit in a Near Rectilinear Halo Orbit (NRHO). This orbit necessitates greater accelerations to descend to the lunar surface and return to the Gateway platform.



Figure 10. The 2024 design reference mission.

In addition to the Human Lander System (HLS) design, the 2024 missions are currently baselined to have the crew wear the xEMU suit for all dynamic phases of flight (Figure 11). This suit has significantly more mass than the Apollo IVA configuration (>70 kg versus ~30 kg in Apollo). This increased mass may increase loading on the crewmember in a standing posture if the additional mass is not offloaded in some manner. In addition, the xEMU has specific design elements that are expected to increase the risk of injury due to dynamic loads. The lunar configuration will include pants with bearings at the hips. These bearings preclude sitting on a conventional seat, as the bearings would interfere with the load path between the crewmember and the seat. The xEMU includes a hard, upper torso (HUT) that has the potential to cause blunt force trauma injuries to the crewmember during dynamic loads.



**Figure 11**. xEMU lunar configuration.

Until specific commercial designs are selected, there remains significant uncertainty in the exact environments to which the crew may be exposed. Even so, for standards that would apply to any future design, any limit associated with a specific analytical tool must not be tailored specifically to a particular design, but instead must be design agnostic.

In addition to the typical dynamic loading expected during spaceflight, planetary



Figure 12. Notional design for an unpressurized rover.

landing will involve EVA activities, both walking in the suit and likely driving a rover (Figure 12). Because of the reduced gravity environment, the mass of the rover, and the mass of the suited crewmember, the dynamics of driving across an uneven planetary surface may require additional consideration for protecting the crewmember from transient accelerations. For example, if the rover were to strike a large rock while driving at maximum speed, the crewmember could be ejected from the vehicle without sufficient consideration to appropriate restraint. As with the HLS, consideration will be given to a standing posture to minimize mass and to facilitate EVA efficiency by minimizing the time required to ingress and egress the vehicle at each stop. Additional consideration will be given to the reliability of the restraint systems because failure to release could be a catastrophic hazard.

#### 4.0 ACCELERATION LIMITS RECOMMENDATION

All relevant data used to assess the +Gz tolerance of a deconditioned crewmember can be seen in the acceleration-duration plot (Figure 13). Current Earth-returning vehicles are assessed using the BDRC and Hybrid III ATDs. A model similar to the existing BDRC, which allows higher accelerations for short-duration exposures, and lower peak accelerations for longer-duration exposures, was used to assess injury limits. This approach has the benefit of simplicity for assessing a design; however, it does not directly address concerns related to crewmember restraints and suit mass. Although the model parameters (natural frequency and damping coefficient) may not accurately represent the dynamics of the lower extremities, the +Gz model parameters do represent the dynamic response of the lumbar spine, which was thought to be a conservative approach.

Using the additional data gathered from other sources, a new dynamic response (DR) limit was chosen to best represent the data and human tolerance when standing. The updated DR limit in +Gz was determined to be 2.7. To account for reduction in tolerance due to spaceflight deconditioning, a decondition factor of 0.75 was applied, resulting in a deconditioned DR limit of 2.0. This deconditioning factor was established based on fracture risk of the lower extremities and may need to be lowered to account for soft tissue injuries that may be sustained during impact. This methodology is consistent with the current approach used in the seated BDRC standard; however, these new limits represent a 5.6-fold decrease in tolerance between standing and seated.



Figure 13. Proposed standing dynamic response limit for standing crewmembers (≤30 day mission).

In lieu of additional information on the design and tolerance to off-axis loads while standing, the same scaling factor used to decrement the +Gz axis was applied to the  $\pm$ Gx and  $\pm$ Gy axes. After the limits were scaled for standing, the appropriate deconditioning factors for  $\pm$ Gy was applied for missions lasting longer than 30 days. This is thought to be consistent with the +Gz limit; however, the off-axis tolerance of the crewmembers will be highly dependent on the restraint design. The -Gz limits are set to zero, as -Gz while standing is not advised without sufficient restraints to hold the crewmember in position. Fractional accelerations that may result from rebound may be allowed if the restraint system is sufficient to arrest any resulting motion.

	Curi	rent	Proposed		
Axis	Seated Non-deconditioned	Seated Deconditioned	Standing Non-deconditioned	Standing Deconditioned	
+Gx	35.0	35.0	6.3	6.3	
-Gx	-28.0	-28.0	-5.0	-5.0	
±Gy	±15.0	±11.3	±2.7	±2.0	
+Gz	15.2	13.0	2.7	2.0	
-Gz	-13.4	-11.5	0*	0*	

Table 2. Updated Dynamic Response Limits for Standing

\* Fractional rebound accelerations are allowed, provided adequate restraints are used.



Figure 14. Peak sinusoidal acceleration allowed in each axis, (A) mission durations  $\leq$ 30 days and (B) mission durations >30 days.

### 5.0 APPLICATION

The dynamic response limits are calculated in the same way as established by the BDRC, with one significant exception. The original BDRC requires that the DR be calculated at the seat critical point. Because this new application no longer requires a seat, the critical point definition is not applicable. In the case of no seat, meeting the BDRC requirements set out in Somers et al. (2017) [10], the critical point should be located at the center-of-gravity of the crewmember's torso. See the NASA Human Integration Design Handbook (HIDH), Appendix B, Table 6 [7].

The injury risk criterion,  $\beta$ , is calculated with

Equation 1. Injury Risk Criterion Calculation

$$\beta(t) = \sqrt{\left(\frac{DR_{x}(t)}{DR_{x}^{lim}}\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{DR_{y}(t)}{DR_{y}^{lim}}\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{DR_{z}(t)}{DR_{z}^{lim}}\right)^{2}}$$

Using Equation 2, the dimensionless DR can be calculated in all 3 axes.  $\delta(t)$  is the spring deflection of the dynamic system that can be found in Equation 3.

Equation 2. Dynamic Response (DR) Formulation.

$$DR(t) = \frac{\omega_n^2 + \delta(t)}{g}$$

Equation 3. DR Differential Equation.

$$\ddot{\delta}(t) + 2 * \zeta * \omega_n * \dot{\delta}(t) + \omega_n^2 * \delta(t) = A(t)$$

Where variables are defined as follows:

g A	Acceleration of	Earth gravity	$y (9.81 \text{ m/s}^2)$
-----	-----------------	---------------	--------------------------

<sup>δ</sup> (t)	Occupant's	acceleration	in	inertial	frame
O(l)	Occupant s	acceleration	ш	mertial	manne

- $\dot{\delta}(t)$  Occupant's relative velocity with respect to the critical point
- $\delta(t)$  Displacement of the occupant's body with respect to the critical point
- $\zeta$  Damping coefficient ratio

 $\omega_n$  Undamped natural frequency of the dynamic system

A(t) The measured acceleration, per axis, at the critical point

Table 3. Model Coefficients	[10]
-----------------------------	------

	Х		Y		Z	
	Eyeballs out	Eyeballs in	Eyeballs left	Eyeballs right	Eyeballs up	Eyeballs
	x < 0	x > 0	y < 0	y > 0	z < 0	down
						z > 0
$\omega_n$	56.0	62.8	58.0	58.0	47.1	52.9
ζ	0.04	0.2	0.07	0.07	0.24	0.224

The following steps set out below are used to determine the risk of injury in a particular axis; the limits used are defined in Table 2.

- 1. Determine the transient acceleration (A(t)) at the critical point of the seated occupant in each axes (X, Y, and Z). A(t) is normally obtained by test or analysis.
- 2. Solve the second order differential equation for the displacement ( $\delta(t)$ ) of the occupant (Equation 3).
- 3. Determine the DR(t) for each axis at time (t) (Equation 2).

- 4. Determine  $\beta(t)$  using Equation 1.
- 5. Find the maximum  $\beta(t)$ . This is the Injury Risk Criterion (IRC).

## 6.0 DESIGN REQUIREMENTS

A discussion of the suit and possible restraint systems when landing crewmembers in a standing posture is needed to ensure the crewmembers are protected. Even if a vehicle design were to meet the recommended DR limits, the crew may still be injured by relative motion between the crewmember, suit, restraints, and/or vehicle. Unless the space suit is rigidly attached to the vehicle, relative motion between the vehicle and suit may impart loads on the crewmember not captured by the BDRC. If the suit is not rigidly attached to the vehicle structure, the mass of the suit may then act on the crewmember imparting additional loads in ways that are not captured by the BDRC. In either case, motion of the crewmember inside the suit can result in closing velocities between portions of the body and the interior of the suit, increasing the risk of injury. To allow the use of the BDRC in a standing posture, several base assumptions must be met to mitigate any secondary impact injury mechanisms.

## 6.1 Suit

Blunt trauma and point loading must be addressed in the design to prevent the body from contacting rigid structures inside the suit. This may include suit-mobility bearings, rigid upper torso assembly, or helmet hardware. This should be achieved primarily by arresting relative motion of the occupant and suit interior, and secondarily by providing force attenuating design elements (e.g., padding) in areas where preventing relative motion may compromise necessary mobility.

In regard to blunt trauma, implementing chest-mounted equipment has been shown to increase injury risk to the crew member [2]. Because of this, there should be no equipment or rigid suit elements over the chest. Any rigid elements over the torso or head and neck area must be analyzed to ensure no blunt injury risk exists. Suit elements over the extremities are considered less crucial but must also be analyzed for fracture and immobilization risk as these injuries can have outsize effects on mission success. Extremity elements must also be considered for their effects on restraint effectiveness.

## 6.2 Restraints

Because the crew will likely not be seated in lunar landings, previous restraint requirements outlined by Somers et al. (2013) cannot be used [10]. With crew in a standing orientation, restraints must prevent +Gz motion and help the crew to maintain balance. Restraints could include foot holds, hand holds, a pulley restraint system, etc. To mitigate relative motion between suit and occupant, restraints may be required inside the suit.

To meet the underlying assumptions of the BDRC, closing velocities between the crewmember and suit must be well managed. In the original BDRC, a maximum gap of 1 inch between the seat structures and occupant may be a reasonable approach for  $\pm$ Gy axes, but for  $\pm$ Gx and -Gz, the original BDRC had an assumption that the restraints holding an occupant into the seat prevent any relative motion between the occupant and seat/restraints. To meet this underlying assumption, the suit will need to incorporate an internal restraint system to attenuate motion in these directions.

#### 6.3 Mass Offloading

The mass of the suit must be considered to adequately protect the crew from injury due to dynamic loading. Unless a lightweight suit is employed, a method for offloading the suit mass is required. The expert panel discussed this challenge and decided on disallowing crew-borne mass greater than 20% of the crewmember's mass. Although this limitation may prevent lower extremity injury due to increased load, if the suit mass is not sufficiently restrained, even if offloaded, closing velocities between the crewmember and suit are possible and could result in injury.

### 7.0 LIMITATIONS

#### 7.1 Small Dataset

In the current assessment, a small number of data points were used to develop a new injury limit for standing crew. Data from standing subjects exposed to impact are scarce (likely because standing during impact is not ideal and low tolerance). Although several different data sources were used in this assessment, the resulting recommendation was by expert consensus guided by the data. For the off-axis limits, no specific data were reviewed. Additional data collection on this posture is needed to better quantify the risk to crewmembers in a standing posture.

#### 7.2 Brinkley Dynamic Response Criterion Model Parameters

Another major limitation of this work is the BDRC. The model parameters (undamped natural frequency and damping coefficient) are based on human testing in specific seating conditions. Without sufficient data, the panel agreed that using these model parameters as a starting point is acceptable, but not optimal. We know that the undamped natural frequency of the human body is likely not significantly affected by the restraint system, as it governed primarily by the internal structures and tissues of the human body. The damping coefficient, however, is highly dependent on the restraint effectiveness [10]. It is unlikely that the same damping coefficient would be applicable to the standing posture, unless the restraint system approached the complexity and function of a seat. For example, a seatback with torso straps and side supports for the shoulders and pelvis could provide similar support and damping in the  $\pm$ Gx and  $\pm$ Gy and possibly -Gz axes but would not provide similar support and damping as a seat in the +Gz.

#### 7.3 Deconditioning

When evaluating crew injury risk due to dynamic loads, spaceflight deconditioning due to extended time in reduced gravity must be considered. In previous standards and requirements, 30 days has been used as the threshold for defining when deconditioning must be accounted for in any injury limits. Although this simplification makes it easier to define how to evaluate a vehicle design, deconditioning risk is not a step-function at 30 days. As soon as a crewmember enters Earth orbit, changes to their physiology begin. Although NASA has focused on skeletal fracture as the primary driver of deconditioning for impact, recent data collected in the HRP-funded Soyuz Risk Characterization study have implied changes to soft-tissues may represent a greater contributor to crewmember injury in Soyuz landings. Based on the current DRM, lunar landings would occur within the first 2 weeks after Earth launch, so deconditioning may not be a major concern. For Mars missions, we expect similar concerns for standing crew, because the crew would dwell in microgravity for durations similar to those currently experienced on the ISS. Additional insight into deconditioning is expected at the completion of the study "Quantitative CT and MRI-based Modeling Assessment of Dynamic Vertebral Strength and Injury Risk Following Long-Duration Spaceflight." This study also is expected to provide some insight into the functional consequences of changes to the intervertebral disk.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge the assistance of NASA, KBR, and external panel members in assisting with this effort.

Nancy Currie-Gregg	Texas A&M University
Frank Pintar	Medical College of Wisconsin
Joel Stitzel	Wake Forest University
Glenn Paskoff	U.S. Navy
Joseph Pellettiere	Federal Aviation Administration
John Buhrman	U.S. Air Force
Chris Perry	U.S. Air Force
Bernard Adelstein	NASA
Lee Stone	NASA
Michael Stenger	NASA
David Francisco	NASA
Mason Powell	KBR

#### REFERENCES

- [1] Blanchard UJ. Full-Scale Dynamic Landing-Impact Investigation of a Prototype Lunar Module Landing Gear. Washington, DC. National Aeronautiics and Space Administration; 1969.
- [2] Danelson K, Bolte J, Stitzel J. Assessing Astronaut Injury Potential from Suit Connectors Using a Human Body Finite Element Model. Aviat Space Environ Med. 82(2):79-86, 2011,
- [3] De Witt JK, Ploutz-Snyder LL. Ground reaction forces during treadmill running in microgravity. J Biomech. 47(10):2339-47, 2014.
- [4] Grumman Aerospace Corporation. Apollo Operations Handbook, Lunar Module. LM10 and Susequent. Bethpage, NY, 1971.
- [5] Kelly TJ. Moon Lander: How We Developed the Apollo Lunar Module. Washington, D.C.: Smithsonian Books 2001.
- [6] Kuppa S, Wang J, Haffner M, Eppinger R. Lower Extremity Injuries and Associated Injury Criteria. 17th ESV Conference Paper No 457; 2001.
- [7] National Aeronautics and Space Administration. Human Integration Design Handbook (HIDH). Washington, DC. Report No.: NASA/SP-3020-3407/REV1, 2014.
- [8] National Aeronautics and Space Administration. Apollo's Legacy is NASA's Future. 2019 [cited; Available from: <u>https://www.nasa.gov/specials/apollo50th/back.html</u>
- [9] Pintar FA, Schlick MB, Yoganandan N, Voo L, Merkle AC, Kleinberger M. Biomechanical response of military booted and unbooted foot-ankle-tibia from vertical loading. Stapp Car Crash Journal, 60:247-85, 2016.
- [10] Somers J, Gohmert D, Brinkley J. Application of the Brinkley Dynamic Response Criterion to Spacecraft Transient Events. Houston, TX. National Aeronautics and Space Administration. Report No.: NASA/TM-2013-217380-REV1, 2017.
- [11] Zupp GA. An Analysis and a Historical Review of the Apollo Program Lunar Module Touchdown Dynamics. Houston, TX. National Aeronautics and Space Administration; 2013.